Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-19-2013

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE¹

In August of 2007, the appellant/plaintiff Steven Cummings (Cummings) paid \$850,000 in cash to purchase a farm near Montpelier, Idaho, commonly referred to as the "Stephens Ranch," consisting of approximately 367 acres on both sides of Highway 30. In November of 2007, the seller and defendant/respondent Roger Stephens (Stephens) approached defendant/respondent Northern Title Company of Idaho, Inc. (Northern Title), who acted as the escrow, closing and title agent in the transaction, claiming that he intended to sell only the property on the west side of the highway. Northern Title immediately altered the deed to reflect that intent without authorization from Cummings and contrary to the written instructions. After a trial on this matter, the trial court dismissed Cummings' claims against Stephens and held that Northern Title was grossly negligent, had committed willful misconduct, or both. It awarded Cummings \$50,000 in damages and his attorney fees and costs, and awarded Stephens his attorney fees and costs.

In this case, this Court must decide whether a signed warranty deed as supported by the listing agreement, purchase agreement, title commitment and the statute of frauds should be disregarded if the seller did not intend to sell all of the property described in the deed. It will also determine what claims and damages are appropriate for a title & escrow agent's intentional misconduct and/or gross negligence – wherein such agent knowingly altered and re-recorded a

¹ A succinct yet comprehensive overview of Cummings' claims in this case was made in his counsel's opening statement at trial. Tr. pp. 4-8.

warranty deed eliminating some 83 acres from the original deed without obtaining original signatures from the seller and the authorization from the buyer and then, when asked to correct the problem, instead collaborated and ultimately indemnified the seller who benefitted from the altered deed.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Cummings filed his complaint on July 29, 2009, against Stephens requesting equitable relief, *i.e.*, that Stephens be prevented from conveying the portion of the property that had been wrongfully removed from Cummings, and for consequential damages. R. Vol. 1, pp. 1–8. On March 18, 2010, Stephens filed his "Answer and Third Party Complaint" which, among other things, admitted that the trial court had both subject matter and personal jurisdiction over Stephens, that Stephens had "executed a Warranty Deed on August 3, 2007," and that "as grantor, Stephens warranted the title to property that was conveyed to (Cummings)" R. Vol. 1, pp. 9–20. Stephens also filed a Third Party Complaint against Northern Title for indemnity, contribution, and damages. R. Vol. 1, pp. 12-16.

Without notifying or seeking consent from Cummings, Northern Title then agreed to indemnify Stephens. R. Vol 4, p. 686. Stephens withdrew his Third Party Complaint. Then Northern Title's attorney, Brad Bearnson, entered an appearance as co-counsel for Stephens. R. Vol. 9, p. 1758, Vol. 4, p. 686 Bearnson later entered an appearance as counsel for Northern Title once it again became a party in the case. Id. Vol 9 p. 1761, Vol. 4 p. 686.

Cummings and Stephens filed cross motions for summary judgement that were heard October 20, 2010. The trial court issued its "Decision on Motion for Summary Judgment" on January 4, 2011. R. Vol. 1, pp. 106–32. The court held that the August 3, 2007, Warranty Deed was unambiguous and that "Cummings purchased all of the (land) west of the highway and that portion of Parcel A that is east of the highway" (the 83 acres.) R. Vol. 1, p. 117. However, relying solely on the affidavits of Stephens, his realtors, and a Northern Title employee, the court held that due to a "unilateral mistake" the August 3, 2007, deed should be "reformed" to reflect Stephens' intent to sell only the property on the west side of the highway. R. Vol. 1, pp. 120–130. The decision also ordered the Stephens to submit a reformed deed to the Court along with the judgment that excluded the disputed 83 acres from the August 3, 2007, Warranty Deed. R. Vol. 1, p. 131.

Cummings moved to reconsider the trial court's ruling on summary judgment, presenting testimony from Cummings, one of the realtors, and a prior buyer (Three Bar Ranches, Inc.) whose purchase contract rights Cummings had bought for \$50,000, in support of Cummings position that the intent was always to include the entire ranch, including 83 acres east of the highway, in the sale. R. Vol.1, p. 166, Vol 2 pp. 188–410.

The motion for reconsideration was heard on March 17, 2011. In a ruling from the bench the trial court reversed its prior decision, holding that there were factual disputes as to whether there was "unilateral mistake" that justified a reformation of the deed that could only be resolved at trial. Tr. pp. 963–966. In particular, the court noted that Cummings had purchased "whatever

rights Three Bar (Ranches) had" and that Cummings needed to produce testimony from Three Bar Ranches at trial as to what was purchased. Tr. pp. 965–966.

After the court vacated its order granting summary judgment Cummings filed his amended complaint adding Northern Title as a defendant, requesting damages for breach of contract, negligence, bad faith, and other claims. R. Vol. 3, pp. 445–520, 573–574. Stephens filed an answer to the amended complaint wherein Stephens again admitted the allegations that "Stephens executed a warranty deed in favor of Cummings which deed transferred Stephens Ranch to Cummings" as described in the August 3, 2007, Warranty Deed attached to the Amended Complaint, R. Vol. 6, p. 1218; R. Vol. 4, p. 578, and that the August 3, 2007, Warranty Deed "transferred real property to the Plaintiff for consideration." R. Vol. 6, p. 1223; R. Vol. 4, p. 586.

On July 3, 2012, Cummings moved to amend his complaint to allege punitive damages against Northern Title. This motion was heard on July 17, 2012. The trial court denied the motion without prejudice, allowing Cummings to renew the motion at trial. Tr. p. 1200:13–20. On July 2, 2012, after Cummings' appraisal expert Gregory Kelley had been disclosed and deposed, Northern Title moved to exclude Mr. Kelley's testimony on the basis of "late disclosure." R. Vol 6, pp. 1062–1069. The court granted Northern Title's motion on July 17, 2012. Id.

The trial was held July 31, 2012, through August 3, 2012. At trial, Cummings testified for more than 1½ days pertaining to his intent in the transaction. Numerous exhibits were admitted, including the signed listing agreement, purchase agreement, title commitment, and escrow

agreement all culminating in the August 3, 2007, Warranty Deed which conveyed the Stephens Ranch as it existed on both sides of Highway 30. Tr. Ex.'s 1, 17, 35, 105, 111. As directed by the Court in its prior rulings, Cummings also provided testimony (by deposition) of Three Bar Ranches president and primary owner, Philip Baum, confirming that the intent – as reflected by the writings and representations made by Stephens' realtors to the company – was that the purchase included the Stephens Ranch as it existed on both sides of Highway 30. May 18, 2012, Phillip Baum Dep. pp. 10:22-25, 11:1-2, Tr. pp. 24:19-26, 25:1-14, 873:2-4.

After Cummings' case in chief, Stephens moved the trial court to dismiss Cummings' claims against him. under an IRCP § 50(a) "Motion for Directed Verdict." Noting that IRCP § 50(a) was not a proper motion, the court voluntarily converted Stephens' motion to an IRCP § 41(b) motion. Tr. p. 726:17–25, p. 727:1–9 Then without making any written findings of facts and conclusions of law as required under IRCP § 52(a), the court dismissed Stephens from the case holding that in "weighing the evidence . . . Stephens had no intention to sell the property east of the highway" and that there was "no evidence that Stephens altered the deed" and therefore Stephens had "no liability" in the case. Tr. p. 736:17–25, p. 737:1–25. At the time it made this decision the trial court had not yet heard any testimony from Stephens or any of the realtors. Shortly after this decision, Northern Title moved to deny Cummings the right to punitive damages. Without any argument the court ruled that "there is no punitive damages in this case." Tr. P. 738:2–11.

After receiving post trial briefing from the parties, on January 22, 2013, the trial court issued its Memorandum Decision, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on Cummings' remaining claims against Northern Title. R. Vol. 8, pp. 1588–1635. The court held that Northern Title's failure to obtain Cummings' authorization prior to altering the legal description and recording a warranty deed with a legal description that was altered from the description in the title commitment, on which the parties had agreed, constituted "gross negligence, willful misconduct or both." R. Vol. 8, p. 1605. The court also held that "the legal description on the rerecorded deed was outside of that contemplated and agreed to by the parties." *Id.* The court awarded Cummings \$50,000 of "proximate" harms caused by Northern Title's conduct, but not equivalent to the value of the 83 acres that had been removed as a result of the re-recorded deed. The court never did make clear, however, whether the November 8, 2007, deed is valid, since the court had ruled that this altered deed was the exclusive result of misconduct by Northern Title, that Stephens had not altered the deed, and raised *sua sponte* that the court had no jurisdiction over modifying deeds for parties not named in the case. *Id.*

The court also denied Cummings' bad faith tort claim, holding that Idaho does not recognize that a bad faith claim can be brought against a title insurance company for the mishandling of its escrow duties. R. Vol. 8, pp. 1609–10. After the final judgment was issued in the case, Stephens sought for and was awarded attorney fees and costs in the amount of \$116,754.62. R. Vol. 9, pp. 1802-1815.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

14 Julius Harrya di Jacobia (1779/4817) in

On July 22, 2007, while driving through the area on Idaho Highway 30, Steven Cummings noticed a for sale sign advertising the Stephens Ranch. R. Vol. 8, p. 1593 ¶10. He called the number on the sign and initially spoke with Stephens' listing agent, Dorothy Julian. Id. ¶12. Ms. Julian was dealing with a family matter and referred Cummings to one of her colleagues, Evan Skinner. Id. On July 23rd Skinner showed Cummings the property including land on both sides of Highway 30. Tr. pp. 24:14-24, 869-873. The property on the east side of Highway 30 included about 83 acres and was enrolled in the CRP program. Id. 24:21-25, 25:1-10. Skinner indicated that the property was under contract with another buyer, Three Bar Ranches, but later informed Cummings that Three Bar Ranches would be willing to sell its interest in the contract for \$50,000. Id. 50:12-23.

On July 26, 2007, Cummings received a fax from Skinner containing Three Bar Ranches' signed Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement (REPC) and a commitment for title insurance.

R. Vol. 8, 1594 ¶ 16, Tr. Ex. 29, 35. Cummings then conducted a cursory review of the legal description, confirming that "Parcel A" included the 83 acres on the east side of Highway 30. Tr. pp. 68-71 Cummings also further confirmed this fact by investigating the fence lines. Id.

On July 30, 2007, Cummings entered into a written assignment of the REPC between Three Bar Ranches and Stephens for the purchase of the Stephens Ranch as it then existed on both sides of Highway 30 near Montpelier, Idaho (\$800,000 to seller and \$50,000 to the original buyer). R. Vol. 8, p. 1594 ¶¶ 14-15, Tr. Ex's. 16, 105. As reflected in the listing agreement, the

REPC signed by Three Bar Ranches on July 2, 2007, contained no language excepting property on the east side of the highway from the sale. Id. Ex.'s 1, 105 In addition, the title commitment already prepared for Three Bar Ranches and on which Cummings was instructed to rely contained no such exception. Tr. Ex. 35. One version of the title commitment that was never delivered to or reviewed by either Three Bar Ranches or Cummings did contain exception language that excluded some of the property on the east side of the highway (not the 83 acres) which was not actually owned by Stephens. Tr. Ex. 140, (first fax). However, it is customary that the legal description contained on and "Exhibit A" of a title commitment identify property not owned by the seller so that it can ultimately be fixed in the warranty deed. Tr. pp. 598:23–25, 599: 1–19, Ex. 12.

On August 3, 2007, one day after Cummings had completed his side of the closing including deposited the necessary funds with Northern Title to complete the purchase, Stephens signed a warranty deed that conveyed the Stephens Ranch, as it existed on both sides of Highway 30, to Cummings, but excepting property on the east side of Highway 30 that, although included in the REPC, was not actually owned by Stephens. R. Vol. 8, p. 1596 ¶ 33-34; Tr. Ex.'s 17, 105. This warranty deed was recorded on August 3, 2007. A copy was sent to Cummings by Northern Title. Tr. Ex. 19. Cummings took possession of the property shortly thereafter. Northern Title also dispersed the \$850,000 deposited by Cummings for the purchase.

Had all things remained the same, Cummings would have freely enjoyed the use and possession of the entire Stephens Ranch, including the 83 acres on the east side of the highway

and the CRP income from that property. But matters did not remain the same. Roger Stephens personally approached Northern Title on November 8, 2007, claiming that the August 3, 2007, deed was incorrect, and that the east side of the ranch was excluded from the sale. *See* Log Notes, Tr. Ex. 115; Tr. pp. 467:4–25, 468–471. Rather than confirm whether this was Cummings' intent, or even check the REPC and title commitment, Northern Title simply assumed that Stephens was correct and on that very same day, without obtaining a new original signature from Stephens as required under the escrow agreement and by regulation, or consent from Cummings, it altered the legal description in the August 3rd deed to remove the entire east side property of approximately 83 acres. R. Vol. 8, p. 1596 ¶ 35, 36, 38; Tr. Ex. 22. Northern Title's agent admitted that, had she learned that Cummings did not consent to changing the deed, Northern Title would have stopped all further action and allowed the parties to resolve their differences. Tr. pp. 470:16–25, 471:1-2.

Cummings did not become fully aware that the deed had been changed until he received the altered warranty deed and his title policy from Northern Title in April of 2008, eight months after the closing. R. Vol. 8, 1596 ¶¶ 39-40. The title policy description had been modified from the legal description in the title commitment so that it would not cover any property on the east side of the highway. This was contrary to Northern Title's own internal instructions, wherein Lori Thornock was instructed by the title officer Laurie Baird to issue the title policy in accordance with the real estate purchase agreement and title commitment. Tr. Ex. 115 (log note dated 04/07/2009.)

Cummings wrote to Northern Title, instructing them to correct the problem. R. Vol. 6. p. 1597 ¶ 42; Tr. Ex. 44. Upon receipt of Cummings' instructions, Northern Title conducted a review of the file, including the REPC. Apparently, there was an addendum to the contract in its file that was signed by Stephens but not by any of the buyers (either Three Bar Ranches or Cummings). Tr. Ex. 115 (6/05/2008 entry); July 25, 2012, Jay Davis Dep. pp. 32:9-35, 31-34, 35:1-16. (Davis Dep. admitted in lieu of live testimony by stipulation at Tr. 710:5-12.) An internal email from Northern Title's Vice President, Jay Davis, admitted that in order to adequately respond to Cummings claims, he needed a:

signed copy of Addendum # 3...this is the most important because without I don't see that I have anything in writing from Mr. Cummings to change the legal from the way that it is attached to the REPC.²

Id. Davis Dep. Ex. 10; Tr. Ex. 120 (emphasis added)

Neither Cummings nor Three Bar Ranches ever did sign the addendum, nor were they even aware of existence until well after the transaction had closed. Tr. pp. 121: 24–25, 122:1–4, Baum Dep. pp. 54:19-25, 55:1. Northern Title drafted a letter to Cummings claiming that it had written evidence that Cummings intended only to purchase the west side property, but the letter was never sent because no such evidence existed. Tr. Ex.'s 116; Davis Dep. 35:17-22.

After realizing its failure, rather than take corrective action, Northern Title instead reached out to collaborate with the realtors and Stephens, primarily to protect Stephens and its own actions, while working to discredit and impugn Cummings. Northern Title even went so far

² This is further confirmation that Northern Title both had the REPC with the legal description and was aware that the legal description had been changed.

as to enter into an all encompassing and "unconditional" indemnity agreement with Stephens in April of 2010. Davis Dep. Ex. 12. In this agreement Northern Title agreed to indemnify Stephens not only against Cummings' lawsuit against Stephens, but against all claims pertaining to the "closing of the transaction," the "issuance of the title commitment," the two warranty deeds filed, and even the issuance of Cummings' title policy. Id. Acting on the advice of his attorney, Brad Bearnson (who had also served as Stephens'counsel), Northern Title's Vice-President Davis refused to answer the question as to whether Northern Title harmed Stephens. Id. pp. 46:15–25, 47:1–15. When Davis was asked whether Northern Title had a duty or policies and procedures in place to remain a "neutral party" in a transaction that it is handling, his attorney interjected and answered:

The witness has already stated that there are no policies or procedures established in that regard.

Id. pp. 47:17–25, 48:1–21.

At trial Cummings provided expert testimony from Lenore Katri, who had more than 30 years experience as an escrow agent. Tr. pp. 580-64. (Her testimony was unrefuted by any other expert witness.) Ms. Katri testified in detail about the staggering number of errors made by Northern Title, from the beginning to the end of the transaction. In her opinion those errors constituted a breach of the standard of care. Id. Ms. Katri categorized Northern Title's failures into two basic areas:

- Failing to obtain written instructions and/or confirm in writing with the parties pertinent matters with regard to the transaction (compare with IDAPA 18.01.25 01. which requires written instructions from the parties) and,
- 2) Failing to act as a neutral or impartial agent. (compare with IDAPA 18.01.25 02, requiring agents to act "without partiality.")

In addition, Ms. Katri opined that no circumstance could ever justify altering and re-recording a deed to remove acreage without first obtaining the written consent of both parties. Id. 637:6–25, 638–639, 640:1–4.

Aside from the loss of the 83 acres and the lost CRP income, Cummings testified as to the other harms caused by Northern Title. Those included lost opportunities, devastation, emotional distress, and a loss of sense of well-being and trust. R. Vol. 6, p. 1597; Tr. pp. 125:20-25, 126:1-8, 132:2-25, 139-141, 142:1-6. Cummings testified that his relief should include both monetary damages *and* the "benefit of his bargain," including a clearing of the title to include the 83 acres on the east side of Highway 30. Tr. p. 138:7-13. There is no evidence that Cummings "abandoned" the property itself, but in fact had consistently testified that he wanted what he had "bargained for" *in addition to* monetary damages for wrongs that were committed in how this transaction was handled. Id.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Should the trial court have invalidated the November 8, 2007, Warranty Deed that it held was improperly altered and re-recorded contrary to the contemplated intent of the parties, therefore making the original signed August 3, 2007, Warranty Deed the only valid deed?
- 2. Did the trial court improperly dismiss Stephens under the "involuntary dismissal" provisions of IRCP 41(b) without any findings of fact or conclusions of law?
- 3. Did the trial court err in dismissing the Cummings' claims based on Stephens' alleged "intent" that was contrary to the unambiguous writings and the statute of frauds?
- 4. Should the trial court have awarded proximate and consequential damages for Northern Title's negligence and breach of contract equivalent to the lost value of the property including income resulting from Northern Title's improper altering and re-recording of the deed?
- 5. Does the State of Idaho recognize a bad faith tort claim against a title and escrow agent governed under Idaho's insurance statutes relating to its escrow services, and if so, did Northern Title commit bad faith in the way it handled its fiduciary duties?
- 6. Did the trial court err in not allowing non-economic damages resulting from Northern Title's misconduct and/or gross negligence?
 - 7. Did the trial court err in not awarding punitive damages for Northern Title's conduct?
 - 8. Did the trial court err in excluding Cummings' appraisal expert?
 - 9. Did the trial court err in awarding Stephens his attorney fees and costs?
 - 10. Should Cummings be awarded his attorney fees on appeal?

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

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