## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-18-2013

# Cummings v. Stephens Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 40793

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

Just as in *Rindlisbaker*, Cummings lost opportunity damages were just an "idea." He admits the view lots were simply "a new idea," he could not provide evidence of income or

costs for the RV Park, and his pursuit of the Jensen Ranch was limited to a one-time drive while simultaneously seeking to buy the Stephens Trust property. See *Tr.*, Vol. 1, 20:14-16.

Further, Cummings' claims are against Northern Title, with whom he has contracts. Lost profits are "generally not recoverable in contract unless there is something in that contract that suggests that they were within the contemplation of the parties and are proved with reasonable certainty." See *Brown's Tie & Lumber Company*, 115 Idaho 56, 61, 764 P.2d 423, 428 (1988) (citing *Nelson v. World Wide Lease, Inc.*, 110 Idaho 369, 378, 716 P.2d 513, 522 (Ct. App. 1986)). Thus in *Brown's Tie & Lumber Company*, the insured could not recover lost profits for a defect in title where the parties did not contractually "contemplate . . . damages, including lost profits." See *Brown's Tie & Lumber Company*, 115 Idaho at 61, 764 P.2d at 428. Similarly here, Northern Title never contractually bound itself against Cummings' speculative lost profits.<sup>3</sup>

The Court should affirm Cummings' failure to prove lost opportunity damages.

Cummings' alleged damages were mere conjecture, and Northern Title never accepted liability for such damages.

B. The district court properly declined Cummings' emotional distress damages where he voluntarily dismissed his sole emotional distress claim.

Intentional infliction of emotional distress requires (1) conduct that is intentional and reckless, (2) conduct that is extreme and outrageous, (3) a causal connection between the conduct and the emotional distress, and (4) emotional distress that is severe. See *Bollinger v. Fall River Rural Elec. Co-op.*, Inc., 152 Idaho 632, 272 P.3d 1263, 1274 (2012). Additionally, when

<sup>3</sup> Further, his suit was never even brought against the actual title insurer, Stewart Guaranty. See *R.*, Vol. 8, 1612-1615.

physical manifestations are classified as medical conditions, expert testimony is required. See *Cook v. Skyline Corporation*, 135 Idaho 26, 34-35, 13 P.3d 857, 865-866 (2000).

In his *Second Amended Complaint*, Cummings alleged Northern Title's conduct was "intentional, reckless, malicious, or wanton," and "outrageous, extreme, atrocious and beyond all possible bounds of decency." *R.*, Vol. 4, 20-21 (par. 97-98). Finding a lack of evidence, Cummings stipulated to its dismissal:

OLSEN:

Thank you, your Honor. Let me start out with the intentional infliction of emotional distress. And I think I already mentioned in our Monday hearing that if there were any claims that were plaintiff's weakest, that probably was it. But we at least wanted to see how the evidence came out in trial. So I think frankly speaking we would be hard pressed to find evidence in the trial where there's been intentional infliction of emotional distress. So we will --we'll go ahead and not object to dismissing that particular claim.

*Tr.*, Vol. 1, 721:21-722:5.4 Indeed, Cummings was not hospitalized. *Id.* at 250:16-19. He was not taking any medications. *Id.* at 251:5-6. And though Cummings alleged the litigation exacerbated his "immunity dysfunction," he provided no expert testimony. *Id.* at 125:5-12; see also *Cook*, 135 Idaho at 34-35, 13 P.3d at 865-866 (distress manifested in a medical condition requires expert testimony).

The only "emotional" damages referenced to in Appellant's Brief are that he had to "file a lawsuit and subsequently endure the anguish and suffering now entering its sixth year since the

<sup>4</sup> Despite Cummings' voluntary dismissal on the record, he again in his Post Trial Brief referenced to intentional infliction of emotional distress as his only claim for emotional damages, and argued for their application. See *R.*, Vol. 8, pp. 1510, 1529-1530.

purchase was closed." *Appellant's Brief*, 37. However, an "actor is never liable . . . where he has done no more than to insist upon his legal rights in a permissible way, even though he is well aware that such insistence is certain to cause emotional distress." *Mortensen v. Stewart Title Guar. Co.*, 149 Idaho 437, 446-447, 235 P.3d 387, 396-397 (2010). (citations omitted).

The Court should affirm the district court's denial of Cumming's emotional distress claim, where Cummings failed to introduce evidence separate from litigation supporting such an award, and stipulated, on the record, to its dismissal.

C. Irrespective of any right to the eastern property, Cummings failed to prove a contractual right to CRP payments.

The Conservation Reserve Program ("CRP") is governed by the USDA Farm Service Agency, where income obtained through that program is governed by contract. See 16 U.S.C. 3831(a). The Montana Supreme Court explains, "CRP contracts provide payments to land holders who set land aside for conservation purposes and requires that the land holders not grow crops or permit grazing on those lands." *Weter v. Archambault*, 313 Mont. 284, 287, 61 P.3d 771, 773 (2002). Under well-established Idaho law, a contract "must be definite and certain in its terms and requirements . . . [because a] court cannot enforce a contract unless it can determine what it is." *Lawrence v. Jones*, 124 Idaho 748, 751, 864 P.2d 194, 197 (Ct. App. 1993).

Here, Cummings has failed to prove a right to the CRP payments. At trial, the parties stipulated that "the CRP payment is \$38.31 per acre, that there's 83 acres, that it works out to be

<sup>5</sup> Section 3831(a) of the Federal Security Act states: "the Secretary shall formulate and carry out a conservation reserve program under which land is enrolled through the use of <u>contracts</u> to assist owner and operators of land specified . . . ." 16 U.S.C. 3831(a) (emphasis added).

\$3,221.23 a year for CRP payments, and that would have been paid each and every year since the transaction[.]" *Tr.*, Vol. 1, 716:6-9. Assuming, however, that Cummings is entitled to the eastern property, he never proved his right to the contractual payments. Cummings admits he never received an assignment of the CRP contract, nor had ever even seen the CRP contract. *Tr.*, Vol. 1, 190:8-13, 137:3-9 (never saw contract prior to closing); see also *id.* at 288:7-16 (never confirmed whether CRP payments transfer to him upon ownership). Additionally, the Real Estate Purchase Contract, assigned by Three Bar, makes no mention of CRP payments. *Tr.*, Vol. 1, 816:24-817:19; see also *id.* at 794:8-13. Rather, the contractual documents in the record state that all CRP funds were assigned to the Phelps, who at all times relevant have leased the CRP property. *Id.* at 777:19-24; see also *Phelps' Lease*, Ex. 64, ¶ 4 ("[I]essee shall be entitled to receive the CRP . . . contract payments"). Therefore, Cummings cannot claim right to the CRP payments. *Lawrence*, 124 Idaho at 751, 864 P.2d at 197 ("court cannot enforce a contract unless it can determine what it is").

CRP funds are a contractual right. Irrespective of any right to the eastern property,

Cummings failed to prove his contractual right to the CRP payments. In fact, the record shows
that those payments have been and are assigned to the Phelps.

D. The Court should affirm the district court's denial of Cummings' motion to amend for punitive damages; the district court reasonably considered the evidence, and substantial evidence at trial supports its decision.

Punitive damages are not favored, and should be awarded "only in the most unusual and compelling circumstances." *Seiniger Law Office, P.A. v. North Pacific Ins. Co.*, 145 Idaho 241, 249, 178 P.3d 606, 614 (2008). At the very least, a plaintiff must prove by <u>clear and convincing</u>

evidence that a defendant's conduct was oppressive, fraudulent, malicious, or outrageous. See I.C. § 6-1604(1). Therefore, a plaintiff bears the burden of proving a bad act and a bad state of mind. See *Seiniger Law Office*, *P.A.*, 145 Idaho at 250, 178 P.3d at 615.

Even before asking for punitive damages, a party must motion to amend its pleadings, and prove that there is a reasonable likelihood of proving punitive damages at trial. See I.C. § 6-1604(1). A denial is upheld as long as the district court realized it had discretion to allow or prevent the issue from going to the jury, acted consistent with legal standards, and reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *Polk v. Larrabee*, 135 Idaho 303, 315, 17 P.3d 247, 259 (2000); see also *Miller v. Callear*, 140 Idaho 213, 218, 91 P.3d 1117, 1122 (2004) ("[w]e do not presume error on appeal; the party alleging error has the burden of showing it in the record").

The district court did not abuse its discretion. Twenty-eight (28) days before trial, Cummings filed his *Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint*. See *R*., Vol. 6, 1191-1193. At the July 17, 2012 hearing, Cummings sought to add punitive damages for two reasons: (1) Northern Title "changing the warranty deeds without first checking with Mr. Cummings," and (2) because Northern Title chose to "side with – go with one side," i.e. Stephens. See *Tr.*, Vol. 2, 1101:16-17, 1102:14-15. Northern Title rebutted as follows:

BERGMAN: The issue that really bothers me about these punitive damages is where's the harmful state of mind? If you look to Lori Thornock's affidavit, she states, "In the course of the transaction, Northern Title's contact was limited to the realtors Dorothy Julian and Evan Skinner . . . [which indicated the Stephens only intended] to sell property west of Highway 30. This was [Thornock's] understanding from the very beginning."

Tr., Vol. 2, 1109:6-15. The district court in response carefully considered the facts presented up to that point:

COURT:

I understand that. But it can be determined by circumstantial evidence and by inferences. I'm not saying I'm ruling that way. I'm just saying there is that potential out there; that a jury could determine that the title company knew what they were doing when they changed the loan documents, and they knew they were doing it without Cummings' knowledge. That could be a problem for your clients, if they go that way.

BERGMAN: And I agree with you if maybe that testimony came out in

trial, but that testimony hasn't come out now.

COURT: I understand.

*Tr.*, Vol. 2, 1110:13-25. Finally, the district court expressed its decision, which clearly indicates an act of discretion and reason:

COURT:

I've been thinking about this punitive damage issue, and this is how I'm going to deal with it for the time being: I'm going to deny the motion for leave to amend complaint without prejudice. Meaning, Mr. Olsen, if at trial there's additional evidence that comes up that I'm not aware of and you want to renew your motion, you can do that.

*Tr.*, Vol. 2, 1200:13-17. By way of analogy, in *Polk v. Larrabee*, the district court stated as follows:

I've considered all of the allegations with regard to punitive damages and as I've previously said . . . the standard for this court is that there must be substantial evidence to justify submitting this case to the jury. In my opinion there is not sufficient evidence on the issue of punitive damages upon which a jury could render a verdict that would award punitive damages.

*Polk*, 135 Idaho at 315, 17 P.3d at 259. From this statement above, the trial court had evidenced the discretionary nature of its power, acted consistent within legal standards, and "as indicated by its comments, it reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *Id.* Similarly here, the district court below perceived its discretion, denying Cummings' motion "without prejudice," and clearly felt that at that time, there was insufficient evidence to prove punitive damages by a reasonable likelihood.

Three more points deserve attention. First, a party may not obtain punitive damages unless there is "the invasion of a legally protected right." *Payne v. Wallace*, 136 Idaho 303, 308, 32 P.3d 695, 700 (Ct. App. 2001). Here, Cummings does not have the right to exclude Northern Title from "siding" with Stephens in its defense. *Cf. Appellant Brief*, 40-41. For instance, there is no bad faith when a party challenges the validity of a fairly debatable claim. See *White v. Unigard Mut. Ins. Co.*, 112 Idaho 94, 96, 730 P.2d 1014 (1986). Similarly, an "actor is never liable . . . where he has done no more than to insist upon his legal rights in a permissible way, even though he is well aware that such insistence is certain to cause emotional distress." *Mortensen*, 149 Idaho at 446-447, 235 P.3d at 396-397.

Second, the substantial evidence at trial does not support an award of punitive damages. See e.g. *Payne v. Wallace*, 136 Idaho 303, 308, 32 P.3d 695, 700 (Ct. App. 2001) (court examines whether record contains substantial evidence to support punitive damages award). The district court's specific findings, all supported by the record, weigh <u>strongly</u> against the finding of punitive damages. First, the district court opened its decision by stating "while the Title

Company did 'mess up,' the wrongs committed are not nearly to the extreme level claimed by the Plaintiff." See *R.*, Vol. 8, p. 1588 (emphasis added).

During November 2007, Thornock tried to contact Cummings to let him know that Northern Title was changing the legal description on the warranty deed but was only able to leave a voicemail on his answering machine.<sup>6</sup>

. . .

Northern Title's actions, in rerecording the November 8 warranty deed, were made in good faith and on the reasonable belief that the property on the east side of Highway 30 was not to be included in the transaction.<sup>7</sup>

. . .

Northern Title did not rerecord the deed for the purpose of harming or injuring Cummings. Thornock testified that a portion of Northern Title's purpose in rerecording the deed was to protect Cummings from potential lawsuits that might be brought against him over the mistaken conveyance of the property on the east of Highway 30.8

. . .

However, Northern Title had the understanding all along that the sale was to include only that property on the west side of Highway 30. Northern Title therefore contested Cumming's claims in good faith.<sup>9</sup>

. .

Northern Title's information was that Cummings only received property on the west side of Highway 30. 10

R., Vol. 8, pp. 1596, 1599-1600, 1611-1612, 1616. Therefore, the district court's specific

findings, supported by substantial and competent evidence, show that Northern Title did not act

6 See also Tr., Vol. 1, 537:8-13, 538:11; see also Tr., Vol. 1, 468:16-18.

7 See also *Tr.*, Vol. 1, 426:9-22; see also *id.* at Vol. 1, 817:3-818:11; see also *Julian Published Depo.*, 20:13-20, 21:14-17, 36:15-22, 38:16-24, and 40:19-41:3.

8 See also Tr., Vol. 1, 468:6-18.

9 See also Tr., Vol. 1, 426:15-22.

10 See also Tr., Vol. 1, 518:13-25.

oppressively, fraudulently, maliciously, or outrageously; and certainly not with the bad mind that warrants the types of damages recoverable only in the "most unusual and compelling circumstances." *Seiniger Law Office, P.A.*, 145 Idaho at 249, 178 P.3d at 614; see also See I.C. § 6-1604(1).

Finally, Cummings waived the issue of punitive damages. When denying Cummings' request for punitive damages, the district court clearly stated "I'm going to deny the motion for leave to amend complaint without prejudice . . . if at trial there's additional evidence that comes up . . . and you want to renew your motion, you can do that." Tr., Vol. 2, 1200:13-17 (emphasis added). After Cummings rested his case-in-chief, Northern Title motioned for dismissal under Rule 41(b), first stressing that Cummings had not proven punitive damages. See Tr., Vol. 1, 738:6-9. The district court answered, "[t]here is no punitive damages . . . I didn't grant the motion to allow them in." Trial TT., 738:10-11. Cummings made no objections. Id. Neither did Cummings' address punitive damages in his Post Trial Brief or Reply Post Trial Brief. See R., Vol. 8, 1507-1532, 1571-1585. Further, Cummings never re-motioned the district court for punitive damages. Therefore, Cummings waived his punitive damages for appeal. See State v. Lewis, 126 Idaho 77, 79-81, 878 P.2d 776, 778-80 (1994); see also State v. Drennon, 126 Idaho 346, 349, 883 P.2d 704, 707 (Ct. App. 1994); see also State v. Reynolds, 120 Idaho 445, 448, 816 P.2d 1002, 1005 (Ct. App. 1991); see also *Mackowiak v. Harris*, 146 Idaho 864, 866, 204 P.3d 504, 506 (2009) ("party's failure to object to action by the trial court precludes a party from challenging that action on appeal"); see also *Hoppe v. McDonald*, 103 Idaho 33, 35, 644 P.2d 355, 357 (1982) ("litigant may not remain silent . . . and later urge his objections . . . for the first

time on appeal"); see also *Kirkman v. Stoker*, 134 Idaho 541, 544, 6 P.3d 397, 400 (2000) (even if district court is mistaken, when a party fails to object, party fails to preserve issue for appeal).

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